

Dorset Council **Local Plan**



Portland

2021 Consultation
Summary of Responses



January 2023



Contents

	Conte	nts	2
1.	Por	tland	3
	1.1.	Introduction	3
	1.2.	Vision	4
	1.3.	Development strategy	4
	1.4.	Town centre strategy	6
	1.5.	Main development opportunities	6
	1.6.	Island-wide Issues	7
	1.7.	Portland Port	10
	1.8.	Policy PORT1: Osprey Quay	12
	1.9.	Policy PORT2: Former Hardy Complex	13
	1.10.	Inmosthay and Tradecroft Industrial Estates	14
	1.11.	Policy PORT3: Portland Quarries Nature Park	14
	1.12.	Omission sites	17

1. Portland

1.1. Introduction

Paragraph 26.1.2

Portland Port

• Introduction needs review. No need to refer to the former naval estate, instead refer positively to the maritime/deep water port opportunity.

Paragraph 26.1.3

Dorset Wildlife Trust

 We support paragraph 26.1.3 and 26.1.5 setting out the nature conservation assets in the area but introduction should be widened to highlight in a positive way all the natural assets terrestrial and marine – including for nature-based tourism.

Natural England

Natural England strongly supports the recognition of the outstanding environmental assets on
the Isle of Portland. The section should also refer to the outstanding marine environment, by
amending the second sentence to "Much of Portland and its surrounding marine environment is
covered by national and international environmental designations". Further specific mention
should be made of the ecological importance of Portland Harbour.

Paragraph 26.1.4

Public response

Paragraph 26.1.4...multiple deprivation: three of the most deprived... - This is obviously a very
important issue but there is nothing in the Plan that addresses this.

Paragraph 26.1.5

Natural England

 Natural England supports the reference to recreational impacts on the Chesil and Fleet Habitats sites, however, the paragraph should refer to the requirement for residential development to make appropriate contributions to the interim strategy and to comply with the forthcoming Chesil and the Fleet SPD, rather than reference ENV2.

RSPB

Paragraph 26.1.5 we welcome and support recognition of the close proximity of Portland to the
Chesil and Fleet National Site Network (NSN) site. The paragraph should be strengthened to
refer to the requirement for any new residential and tourist accommodation to mitigate the
impacts of increased recreational pressure on Chesil and the Fleet, in accordance with the
interim mitigation strategy for the NSN site.

Heritage Assets

Historic England

Historic England notes and welcomes the mentions of the Isle of Portland's historic character
and heritage assets in the introductory text, vision and development strategy. However, this
could be briefly expanded to better describe the area's important archaeology (some of which is
on the Heritage at Risk Register) and its seascape character.

1.2. Vision

Approach

Portland Port

 Welcome reference to the port in the vision. Suggest capturing this at a higher level in the plan noting it is the plans only deep-water commercial port.

Public response

- Unless Local Plans are adhered to they are meaningless. Points 1, 2, and 4 of the vision for Portland will be unachievable unless Dorset Planning takes note of this and other plans.
- Concern the vision is short sighted Weymouth take initiative of being the Jurassic Coast hub.

Portland Quarries Nature Park

Dorset Wildlife Trust

 Vision for Portland should include reference to the natural environment and specifically to Portland Quarries Nature Park.

Portland Sculpture and Quarries Trust

 Concern that reference to stone carving in Tout Quarry, and its economic benefits, has been left out of the plan.

Economy

Weymouth Civic Society

We fully concur with the aspirations for Weymouth for a good and thriving economy, as
exemplified in these paragraphs, as also for Portland and Chickerell. We agree with the need to
support economic growth and regeneration and to 'have a strong diversified economy, building
on its advantages in advanced engineering, tourism and leisure, offering a range and choice of
well paid jobs for its residents'. Now these aspirations need to be translated into action, to give
strong support and encouragement to the development of the employment base.

1.3. Development strategy

Approach

Portland Town Council

 Portland Neighbourhood Plan sets out a growth and development strategy, a Heritage and Character Study, Site Appraisals and Policies around Community Infrastructure all of which are relevant to the development of Portland which has unique issues which cannot be fully covered in a Local Plan.

Weymouth Civic Society

 Weymouth, Chickerell and Portland already have very large amounts of land allocated and largely approved for housing, and there is little additional land which could reasonably be developed further without impinging on areas of high landscape value or other unsuitable sites.

Portland Port

• The profile of Portland Port in the plan should be raised and the opportunities it offers as the only deep-water commercial port in the plan area should be emphasised.

Public response

- Very supportive of what is planned.
- Disagree with development strategy for Portland.
- Policy needs presumption against new development outside set boundaries and numbers/sites.
- Infill development should be exception, where need demonstrated.

Paragraph 26.3.2 - Bumpers Lane

Sibbett Gregory on behalf of Betterment Properties (Weymouth) Ltd

• Bumpers Lane is a housing site for 71 new homes. My client will complete that development this summer.

Sibbett Gregory on behalf of Betterment Properties (Weymouth) Ltd and Keith Smith

• It is deceitful to retain Bumpers Lane in the local plan housing land supply.

Paragraph 26.3.2 - Manor Royal

Public response

 Agree with the limitation of development to the sites mentioned. Confused as to why Manor Royal development of 98 dwellings is not mentioned.

Paragraph 26.3.2 - Former School sites

Public response

- From the tables given in the documents the former school in Southwell and the former secondary school are designated to supply land for at least 200 hundred houses.
- Other sites are also designated for housing on the Island.

Paragraph 26.3.5 - Tourism

Natural England

The importance of Portland Bill as a significant tourism destination should be highlighted along
with the need to take action to restore coastal habitats in the areas around the Bill currently
suffering from excessive footfall.

Paragraph 26.3.6 - Portland Quarries Nature Park

Natural England

Welcomes the Plan's support for the Portland Quarries Nature Park.

Portland Sculpture and Quarries Trust

• Tout Quarry Sculpture Park & Nature Reserve is an arrival point for Portland Quarries Nature Park.

Dorset Wildlife Trust

- We welcome the reference to sustainable tourism, it would be appropriate here though to again mention impacts on Chesil and The Fleet international site from recreational use and the need for development (including tourism development) to contribute to the mitigation strategy to manage visitor pressure.
- Highlights that Tout Quarry Sculpture Park & Nature Reserve is an arrival point for the Portland Quarries Nature Park, has disability access, is strategically placed, and of biodiversity and landscape importance.

1.4. Town centre strategy

Town Centre Strategy and regeneration

Portland Town Council

- Neighbourhood Plan sets out a rationale for the centres on Portland. All our centres have been in decline but with increased number of visitors plus home working there are opportunities.
- More thought should be put into regenerating town centres. High streets should diversify and not just focus on retail.

Heritage Assets

Historic England

- Introduce new text into the Town Centre Strategy to explain that the 'town centres' in Easton and Fortuneswell are located within Conservation Areas and provide links to the adopted Conservation Area Appraisal (2017).
- Introduce new policy that encourages development that conserves and enhances significance and settings of the Portland (Easton) Conservation Area and Underhill Conservation Area and other heritage assets located within them.

Portland Town Council

• Castletown has historic value and is fast becoming a visitors' area and centre of economic activity. This is not considered in the plan.

1.5. Main development opportunities

The following sections include summaries of representation received regarding the following policies:

- Island-wide Issues
- Portland Port
- PORT1 Osprey Quay
- PORT2 Former Hardy Complex
- Inmosthay and Tradecroft Industrial Estates
- PORT3 Portland Quarries Nature Park

1.6. Island-wide Issues

Infrastructure

Portland Town Council

- There are infrastructure issues which are not addressed, more focus is given to improving
 infrastructure in other areas of Dorset. Portland has suffered over recent years from the viability
 of schemes taking precedence over community infrastructure.
- Portland has lost the Royal Manor Youth Club and youth services are desperately needed in Underhill and the youth resource must be retained. Further youth provision in other areas of the island should also be included in the plan.
- Strongly support broadband improvements and 5G infrastructure.
- Would like charging points at Portland Bill car park.

Public response

- Should include policy on provision of health, education, sporting and cultural facilities.
- Portland has lots of housing without infrastructure.
- Adequate water supply for an increased population and equally, a safe system of sewage disposal.
- Disagree with further development on an ad hoc basis without any consideration for capacity of local services.

Housing

Public response

• Portland is already densely populated; The housing supply has increased already on the Island over the last 10 years but there is no evidence that this has benefitted the Island.

Second Homes

Portland Town Council

 There should be an agreed methodology where a community can identify concerns about the level of second home ownership in a way which allows an equitable solution to manage the impact.

Public response

- Concerned that there is no reference to limitation of 2nd homes on the Island.
- Portland has no policy on second homes (A concern in Chiswell and parts of Easton/Wakeham).
- Building new houses while other houses remain empty for several months of the year makes no sense.

Care Homes

Portland Town Council

• We recognise the need for nursing provision on Portland but care homes have not previously been considered financially viable on the island.

Employment

Portland Town Council

- Would Portland's status as Tier 2 attract the right employment? Portland / Weymouth /
 Dorchester are in a growth corridor and should be referred to as such. The nature of work is
 changing but these changes have not filtered through to the plan. Commuting linked to
 manufacturing / industrial work will continue more or less unchanged.
- Portland has the potential to generate employment however the description of employment in the plan is far too limited and does not fully take into account the way in which employment is changing.

Tourism

Portland Town Council

- Due to its unique natural environment Portland has huge potential for tourism. We would like to see a network of visitor centres to promote green tourism. This is linked to the development of cycling routes but also includes walking routes.
- Portland Bill is a world-famous location and regularly enjoys huge visitor numbers. The protected status of the area surrounding Portland Bill should be heightened and landscape further protected, perhaps with further designations.

Public response

- Used to be a tourist spot that brings money to the area.
- Policy on conversion of houses to holiday lets needed.
- Private investment in JURASSICA on Portland connected with a re-imagined autonomous light railway would leverage geographic advantage - provide opportunities to extract income from cruise ship visitors as well as reduce carbon emissions for out-commuters.

Transport

Portland Town Council

- There are significant transport issues around Portland, cycling infrastructure could be better served to tackle this. Push for improved railway connections. Infrastructure on Portland has not been kept pace with housing.
- The separation of HGVs from local traffic on Portland should be considered in the plan.

Portland Port

• New transport policy is needed. Clearway/ traffic management between Victoria Square and the port to ensure continued unhindered port access and egress.

Public response

- should include a policy/vision for transport.
- Existing congestion will only be exacerbated encourage developments which do not require significant amounts of vehicular access.
- Have emergency situations been considered in the document?
- Traffic pollution is a current problem on Fortuneswell and High Street.
- Disagree with further development on an ad hoc basis without any consideration for capacity of local traffic.

Weymouth to Portland relief road

• Please note that comments relating to 'Weymouth to Portland relief road' can be viewed within the Weymouth Chapter under Paragraph 24.6.48-51.

Car Parking

Portland Town Council

- Car parking on Portland requires a managed approach. Proposals to lose areas of Hambro and Fairfield car parks should be strongly resisted.
- Car Parking across the Island is a concern, particularly in Underhill.
- We strongly support improvement to infrastructure for EV charging. Consideration should also be given to battery swapping and fuel cell vehicles. We would like to see charging points at Portland Bill car park.

Public response

should include measures to increase car parking and mass electric vehicle charging.

Cycleways

Portland Town Council

There is nothing in the plan on cycleways on Portland. Portland is on the National Cycle
Network. The Town Council are keen to move forward on the creation of specific routes for
cycling on the island. Portland urgently needs a cycle path from Underhill to Tophill. The local
transport plan should be further integrated with the local plan to detail this.

Biodiversity

Portland Town Council

• The unique natural environment south of Southwell requires further protection. This area should have extra protection against residential development. Preserving this land is integral to the green network and this is lacking in the plan. This natural environment has the potential to provide employment opportunities and the land has value in this sense.

Public response

- Demolished flora and fauna and ruined beauty of the area.
- Land behind 14-16 Park Road Portland is a wildlife haven, forms part of a valuable wildlife corridor and should be allowed to remain greenspace.

World Heritage Coast

Portland Town Council

 Portland is part of the World Heritage Coast and as such the relationship with undesignated open areas should have better recognition and status. The area around Portland Bill specifically deserves higher status. It includes important habitats. The plan should include tighter protections for the Portland coastline.

Flooding

Portland Town Council

 There is no specific reference to protecting Portland Beach Road and Ferry Bridge from flooding, although Chiswell is recognised. This was very specific in the previous plan. Need to maintain defences at Portland. Consideration of use of natural flood defences which would also support carbon sequestration.

Renewable Energy

Portland Town Council

- Its natural renewable resources could be drawn upon as part of the green revolution. The unique and special environment lends itself to green tourism, including as part of a new National Park and designation as a UNESCO Global Geopark.
- Small wind turbines Turbines of this size are viable on Portland. We have referred in our Neighbourhood Plan to the need for appropriate designs which we are starting to see. There should also be policy flexibility where community support can be achieved. On Portland, consideration must be given to migratory bird paths.

Character

Public response

- Intention to prevent sprawl and maintain distinctive character should be explicit.
- Concerned there is no comment on development being in keeping with the context of the existing built environment of the Island.
- Concerned there is no comment on protection of existing built assets on the Island.

1.7. Portland Port

Opportunities

Portland Port

• Section 26.5 captures the essence of the opportunity - we emphasise the need to raise the profile of the maritime/ deep water port opportunity.

Chesil Bank Parish Council

• The two ports in the county are a major missed opportunity for tourism and commercial activities. The re-instatement of the cross-Channel ferries would seem to be a first and easy step. This would require major infrastructure investment possibly leading to "Free Port" status.

Public response

- Portland Port should be used to deliver high end maritime research.
- Weymouth/Portland should bid for Freeport status.
- Could be support for a better cruise ship and ferry handling facility at Portland bringing economic benefits.

Paragraph 26.5.5

Natural England

- The nomenclature used for "European Sites" and "European Directives" should be updated. The summary of the Port's ecological interest should refer to the marine environment, the Port's Sites of Nature Conservation Interest (SNCIs) (County Wildlife Sites) and the presence of Priority Habitats. Development at the Port should seek to conserve and enhance these interests through their appropriate management and ensure it delivers a net gain for biodiversity.
- We recommend the following amendment: "Therefore any future development proposal will have to take account of the relevant environmental policies in the plan, including requirements for enhancing biodiversity interests and securing a 10% biodiversity net gain. When considering the acceptability...'.

Dorset Wildlife Trust

- Paragraph 26.5.5. should be amended to make it clear that there are nature conservation
 interests throughout the Port estate (including in the marine environment). Some areas towards
 the south of the site have significant undesignated wildlife interest. The presence of Sites of
 Nature Conservation Interest should also be specifically mentioned as these lie in close proximity
 to existing employment allocations and are thus extremely vulnerable to damage and
 disturbance.
- Three Sites of Nature Conservation Interest are present as well as other areas with priority habitat and species as well as local nature, heritage and landscape designations also exist and there are areas subject to land instability.

RSPB

Para 26.5.5 Any plan or project must not adversely affect the integrity of an NSN site, unless the
tests set out in the Habitats Regulations are met. We would like to see this paragraph name all
relevant sites or none at all but then refer to NSN sites.

Paragraph 26.5.6

Natural England

• Natural England welcomes and supports the commitment to identify opportunities for the positive management and enhancement of nature conservation and heritage assets.

Isle of Portland SSSI

Natural England

Natural England objects to the mapping of the key employment sites on the Port Estate as it
includes the northern half of the quarry floor at Nikodemus Heights which is designated as part
of the Isle of Portland SSSI.

Heritage Assets

Historic England

- Welcomes the partial recognition of some of the heritage sensitivities of the port estate area in respect of listed buildings and the World Heritage Site.
- The plan should address the lack of reference to the many heritage assets outside of the
 development site to better reflect the range and importance of heritage assets potentially
 affected by port and other employment growth and development. Assets include various listed

- buildings, Underhill Conservation Area, The Grove Conservation Area, and many military Scheduled Monuments, including The Verne Citadel, the remains of RAF Portland, and two batteries (one of which is 'at risk) and two rile ranges.
- Heritage impact assessments should be undertaken to inform any future strategies, plans and programmes.
- A new policy should be introduced into the local plan to cover this with a criterion requiring the significance and settings of affected heritage assets to be conserved and enhanced. This policy may also need to include further specific criteria for avoiding, minimising and mitigating harm to heritage assets and maximising enhancement based on the findings of the recommended heritage impact assessment.

Proposed waste incinerator

Environment Agency

• There is a proposed incineration plant at Portland Port.

Public response

- The proposed waste incinerator at Portland Port is in the middle of an area of unique character and would have a negative visual impact, result in toxic emissions, threaten the SSSIs, SACs and the enjoyment of the area by residents and visitors. It has a poor ratio of land to jobs, has nothing to do with specialist maritime industries and will threaten, not benefit from, the unique location. It will not be in accordance with the Local Plan vision for Portland.
- The proposed EfW incinerator site on Portland is a bad neighbour use, too close to residential uses and not allocated in the adopted Waste Plan.
- ERF facility should not be built to maintain a healthy living environment.

1.8. Policy PORT1: Osprey Quay

Approach

Natural England.

• Natural England has no objection to PORT1.

Heritage Assets

Historic England

- Amend the supporting text and/or Policy PORT1 to clarify the status of the masterplan and provide link.
- Amend the supporting text to describe the range and importance of the heritage assets located within land identified as Osprey Quay and nearby; and
- Introduce a new criterion into Policy PORT1 to require the significance and settings of affected heritage assets to be conserved and enhanced, including the World Heritage Site, the heritage assets associated with Portland Castle and the Underhill Conservation Area.

Flood Risk

Environment Agency

The flood defences at Osprey Quay and the main A354 access road and associated services for all
of Portland are heavily dependent on the continued presence of flood defences at Chiswell

- Beach (Current Osprey Quay flood defences are for relatively still flood water from overtopping and percolation through Chesil beach and require Chesil Beach flood defences as a first line of flood defence to dissipate wave energy).
- Large continued investment is required in these flood and coastal erosion defences at Chiswell,
 Chesil Beach and should be acknowledged within the plan. Even with continued investment, the
 defences offer a low Standard of Protection to the community and road now, and this will
 reduce significantly with climate change inclusion.

Biodiversity

Environment Agency

Any development would need to avoid impact on the Chesil and Fleet SSSI/ SAC and any local
wildlife sites. Any development also must not impact on the water quality and ecology of
Portland Harbour, which is a designated Shellfish Water area.

Public response

• Land behind 14-16 Park Road Portland is a wildlife haven, forms part of a valuable wildlife corridor and should be allowed to remain greenspace. This could be managed through liaison with the Portland Nature Community Interest Company.

1.9. Policy PORT2: Former Hardy Complex

Viability

Sibbett Gregory on behalf of Betterment Properties (Weymouth) Ltd and Keith Smith

The owners identified key site-specific abnormal construction costs relating to stabilisation of
the sloping site, which bears out my client's own investigation of ground conditions. In my
opinion it is deceitful to retain the Hardy Complex in the local plan housing land supply. Policy
PORT2 should be deleted and all references to it should be removed from the local plan.

Developers/Landowners/Agents

 Allocation PORT2 (Hardy Complex) does not meet the definition of a deliverable site due to viability issues associated with the existing building's condition.

Ground instability

Environment Agency

Note that land instability issues should be considered, and any development must be
accompanied by appropriate geotechnical reports for employment sites on the east of the island
and for the Portland Port area.

Heritage Assets

Historic England

- Amend the supporting text for Policy PORT2 to mention that part of the Underhill Conservation
 Area is located within the former Hardy Complex and the presence of other heritage assets
 located nearby including listed buildings and the scheduled Portland Castle.
- Introduce a new criterion into Policy PORT2 to encourage development that conserves and enhances the significance and settings of the Underhill Conservation Area and other affected

heritage assets, including listed buildings to the north and the group of listed buildings to the north-west associated with the scheduled and listed Portland Castle.

Flood Risk

Environment Agency

• Portland Port development should also consider future flood risk as part of the SFRA.

Chesil Beach and Fleet Habitats

Natural England

• Natural England has no objection to PORT2, however, reference should be made to the need to contribute to the interim recreation strategy for the Chesil Beach and Fleet Habitats sites.

RSPB

Given the close proximity of this site to Chesil and the Fleet, the policy should include a
requirement for developer contributions to help offset the impacts of additional recreational
pressure on the NSN site, in accordance with the interim mitigation strategy.

Isle of Portland SSSI and Isle of Portland to Studland Cliffs SAC

Environment Agency

• Isle of Portland SSSI and Isle of Portland to Studland Cliffs SAC adjacent the site.

1.10. Inmosthay and Tradecroft Industrial Estates

Heritage Assets

Historic England

- Amend the explanatory text for the Inmosthay and Tradecroft Industrial Estates to acknowledge
 the presence of heritage assets with settings and significance that may be affected by
 development.
- Introduce a new policy in the local plan for the Tradecroft Industrial Estate to require development to conserve and enhance the settings and significance of affected heritage assets.

1.11. Policy PORT3: Portland Quarries Nature Park

Title

Portland Sculpture and Quarries Trust

• Please add correct title — 'Tout Quarry Sculpture Park & Nature Reserve'.

Approach

Natural England

Natural England strongly supports Policy PORT3.

Environment Agency

We support the principles of the Portland Quarries Nature Park, but need to consider constraints
of surrounding area – e.g. historic and operating landfill sites, waste management licences,
wildlife sites.

Portland Sculpture and Quarries Trust

Tout Quarry is strategically placed as an interpretive arrival point to the PNQP overlooking the island – with routes through a series of interconnected former quarries with SSSI status — leading to the proposed outdoor Amphitheatre site on the East-cliff.

Public response

 Strongly supports the provision for expanding the Quarries Park as the disused quarries are restored.

Paragraphs 25.5.12-15

Environmental groups/organisations

• We welcome and support this policy and paragraphs 26.5.12-15.

Historic England

In respect of the supporting text at 26.5.13, we would welcome an amendment to convey that
the restoration and management of sites being incorporated into the nature park will also take
account of the impacts on heritage assets and will seek to avoid and minimise harm and to
maximise opportunities for their conservation and enhancement.

Economic potential

Portland Town Council

- The development of Quarry Nature Sites is compatible with the potential for green industries developing alongside. Reference should be made to the employment and training opportunities as well as health and wellbeing benefits.
- Does the new Natural England Open Mosaic definition also need to be referred to.

Portland Port

• Important that Portland Quarries Nature Park aspirational land is considered in the context of the key economic role the port offers to the Dorset area.

Portland Sculpture and Quarries Trust

• Economic benefits of Tout Quarry - repurposing stone waste from the industry, environmental regeneration and sustainable tourism, providing employment and training opportunities.

Public Access

Defence Infrastructure Organisation

Verne Yeates Training Area is identified as part of Portland Quarry Nature Park (26.5.12) and the
plan is to ensure public access "as opportunities arise" PORT3. MOD would point out that this is
inconsistent with military training and we would like to reserve our position on this until more
information is available on exactly what this would entail.

Criterion I

Historic England

• Historic England notes and supports the intent of Policy PORT3, especially criterion I, along with the supporting text's recognition of the Isle of Portland's nationally significant cultural heritage.

Sibbett Gregory on behalf of Betterment Properties (Weymouth) Ltd and Keith Smith

 Agree with what policy seeks to achieve. In principle there is nothing wrong with the vision for, or objective of this project and there is no reason to object to part I of this policy.

Criterion II

Sibbett Gregory on behalf of Betterment Properties (Weymouth) Ltd and Keith Smith

• Do not agree approach in point II, it is speculative and depends too much on the willingness of others to donate land.

Public response

 Criterion II on the extent of the quarry park should state that it will (rather than may) be extended to the indicated areas with the agreement of the landowner.

Figure 26.1 Map of Proposed Development at Portland

Natural England

• Natural England objects to Figures 26.1 which identifies land within the Isle of Portland SSSI (the northern half of the quarry floor at Nicodemus Heights) as key employment land.

Portland Port

 Figure 26.1 Map of proposed development sites at Portland needs correcting to include Parade Ground and recommend adding site (ref WP/14/01033 OUT and WP/16/00150/RES).

Sibbett Gregory on behalf of Betterment Properties (Weymouth) Ltd and Keith Smith

Aspirational land should not be identified with hard boundaries as it has in figure 26.1. It would
be more appropriate to insert a symbol indicating locations where extension of the nature park
would be encouraged.

Development Boundaries

A2A Consulting on behalf of DJ Property Group

• Full extent of Stone Firm's masonry works should be included within the settlement boundary and the employment site designation to the north.

Sibbett Gregory on behalf of Betterment Properties (Weymouth) Ltd and Keith Smith

• Figure 26.1 is misleading. It shows Development boundaries that exclude recent development. Development Boundaries should be redefined to include sites under construction, where planning permissions have been granted and the small area between committed sites.

1.12. Omission sites

Stone Firms, Portland

A2A Consulting

• The Stone Firms Masonry Works should be included in the settlement boundary and the employment site designation to the north.